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Date: 12 February 2024 

Ref: RAKP-LD-E-0003-120224-05 

MS/ Disclosures & Compliance Dep 

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange 

Subject: Results of RAK Properties 

Board of Directors Meeting NO (1/2024) 

Dear sir, 
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With reference to above mentioned subject, please be 
informed that the Board of Directors decided at its meeting 
NO (1/2024) held on Monday 12 February 2024, the 
following: 
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1. Approved the audited consolidated financial statements for 4JWI d.i.JJ �l.9 o.i.::,.�I 4JWI .::.u4,JI .li...kl .1
the year ended 31 December 2023. .2023 � 31 � �I 

2. Invitation to the company shareholders to conduct AGM on �I E �I .l.A.S.! AS y:.JI �L...... v-1! i:i¥-.i.ll �� .2
Wednesday, 20 March 2024 after obtaining the approval of .!lli.9 ,2024 iJ"'JL.. 20 �l�I .. �)ii �.9:! 4.�I 4.A�I 
the Securities and Commodity Authority. 

3. Recommending to the AGM to distribute a cash dividend
of 3% and bonus shares of 4% of the company's capital for 
the financial year ended December 31, 2023. 

4. Recommending to the General Assembly to increase the
company's capital through the entry of a strategic partner, 
after obtaining the approval of the Securities and 
Commodities Authority. 

5. The Board further deliberated in other administration
matters. 

Best Regard, 

.• r..11 LlWI ··1 '.l!l ll.u. A.ii.!I tr J· --11 .u.ic--- .9 .. � J.9 .. .9-"' v-- � .
1/.3 � � Li i ... L.c.·--11 � .... . 3. . .. (.J t,!J� .. r---' .. . � �J . 

4JWI :u....JI � AS y:.JI JL.. iJ"'i J 0A %4 � � i"+"'i .9 
.2023�31��1 

J)b.. AS-'•.tlJL.. i o.ll.i· L.c.··-11�.L...::.··. 40A .r- i,)"' J --� .. r---' .. . .. � � J • 

ll.u, A.ii.!I tr J- -- ti .u.i di.l .. , ·· I .!L '· J · .. .9-"' v-- � . .9 �J-'-'-'-1 •.. .)"' .P-1
,tLll.9 4JWI j11.9'.l!I 

.i.5�'.l!I 4.).l�I J.9-"''.l!I ���I J.91..u � .5 

+971 7 227 2444 :c_y.,.519, + 971 7 228 4777 :l.Jl.ilcz, r"·c.·! ,d..a.p.JI lY'iJ ,31113 :y.LJD 

P.O. BOX 31113, Ras Al Khaimah, U.A.E Tel: +971 7 228 4777 Fax: +971 7 227 2444 www.rakproperties.ae 

ISOl.5001 
......... 
1-•d� 

I 

•









RAK Properties P.J.S.C. 
and its subsidiaries 

Independent Auditor's Report and Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 



RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Table of Contents 

Board of Directors' report 

Independent Auditor's Report 

Consolidated statements of financial position 

Consolidated statement of profit and loss 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Page(s) 

1 

4 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16-58 



.:111 cu lii..c.JI ci.o.J.:)J I i .. J .. \.)A.I J 
RAK PROPERTIES 

Dear Shareholders, 

The Board of Directors of RAK Properties PJSC is pleased to submit the consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 31st December 2023. 

Principal Activities: RAK Properties continues to invest in the development and management 

of real estate assets and its associated activities including but not limited to sales, leasing, 

facility management and hospitality businesses. 

Financial result: In 2023, RAK Properties achieved revenue of AED 1004.89 million (2022 AED 

408.22 million), a net profit of AED 201.82 million (2022 AED 30. 79million) with an EPS of AED 

0.101 (2022 AED 0.015). The Total comprehensive income for the year increased to AED 

181.98 million vs AED 20.97 million in 2022. 

The total assets of the Company as at 31st December 2023 is AED 6.46 billion (2022 AED 6.32 

billion), an increase of 2.2% on account of investment in hotels and residential projects 

development with a medium and long term focus on recurring revenue generation, capital 

appreciation and robust balance sheet 

Operational Achievements: During the year RAK Properties continued investing in the 

development of residential and hospitality properties. 

Bay Residence Phase 1, Hayat Island, Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah. Construction of these 2 

towers is progressing as per the development plan. Both towers have been fully sold out 

Bay Residence Phase 2, Hayat Island, Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah. The sale of these 2 towers 

consisting of 324 apartments has been launched in Ql 2023 and it has been fully sold out. 

Construction of these 2 towers is progressing as per the development plan. 

Nasim Lofts at Bay Residence, Hayat Island, Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah. RAK Properties' 

latest addition of Nasim lofts at bay residence has been launched in the market and sales are 

ongoing. 

Gateway Residence 2, Hayat Island, Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah - Residential building of 

146 apartments. Construction of this tower is progressing as per the development plan. All 

146 apartment in this tower has been fully sold out. 

Marbella Villa Phase 2, Hayat Island, Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah - luxury Villas and 

Townhouses. Construction of these additional 89 villas and townhouses commenced and is 

progressing as planned. Sales were launched in Ql 2023 and 90% sold out. 

Bayviews, Hayat Island, Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah - Residential Buildings. The sale of 

these 2 towers consisting of 344 apartments has been launched in end Q2 2023 and it has 
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been sold out within few hours of the launch. Construction of these 2 towers has 

commencement in Q4 2023 

Cape Hayat, Hayat Island, Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah - Residential Buildings. The sale of 

these 4 towers consisting of 678 apartments has been launched in end Q3 2023. Project 

construction of this 4 Residential Tower has commenced in end of 2023 

Quattro Del Mar, Hayat Island, Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah. RAK Properties launched its 

latest masterpiece "Quattro Del Mar Project", nestled in a price location of Hayat Island, Mina 

Al Arab. Quattro Del Mar comprises of 4 towers and promises an integrated lifestyle hub with 

entertainment and world-class facilities and started selling in Ql 2024 

Julphar Residence, Reem Island, Abu Dhabi, a residential building of 266 apartments. During 

the year RAK Properties commenced the sales of this completed tower in Abu Dhabi and had 

a very good market response which 100% released unit has been sold out. 

The Intercontinental Ras Al Khaimah Mina Al Arab Resort & SPA, this notable 5 Star luxury 

hospitality asset has been operating successfully since February 2022 and delivering strong 

revenues. The hotel achieved higher occupancy and financial as compared to the compset as 

the hotel completed the full year of operation in 2023 

Anantara Mina Al Arab Resort, Ras Al Khaimah, the second 5 Star luxury hospitality asset 

with 174 keys opened its door subsequent to financial year closing, and started operation 

from 02nd January 2024 

During the year RAK Properties and Ellington Properties entered into a JV to develop a 

premium waterfront residential project in Hayat Island. The partnership marks Ellington 

Properties' entry into the emirate and the first joint residential apartment project which will 

bring a new perspective to exclusive waterfront living. Also RAK Properties partners with Nikki 

Beach Global to open first branded resort in Mina Al Arab, Ras Al Khaimah 

Outlook 2024: 

RAK Properties continues to invest in the development of appropriate asset classes and in 

human capital to manage ongoing business challenges and realize opportunities. With the 

support of all stakeholders RAK Properties has developed a robust budget for 2024. RAK 

Properties has allocated substantial funds for development, predominantly in Mina Al Arab, 

with the goal of maximizing the value of this important company asset and to increase 

revenue generation, as well as building the RAK Properties PJSC and Mina Al Arab brands 

and their appeal to our target customers and investors. 
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Directors: 

Abdul Aziz Abdullah Al Zaabi 

Mohammad Ahmad Ruqait Al Ali 

Sheikh Ahmed Omar Al Qassimi 

Abdallah Rashed Alabdouli 

Mohamed Ghobash Al Marri 

Vasser Abdulla Al Ahmad 

Mohamed Musabbeh Al Nuaimi 

Auditors: 

- Chairman 

- Deputy Chairman 

- Director 

- Director 

- Director 

- Director 

- Director 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2023 have been 

audited by M/s. Grant Thornton, they are eligible for re-appointment and have expressed 

their willingness to be re-appointed. 

Chairman 
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Grant Thornton 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR•S REPORT 
To the shareholders of RAK Properties P.J.S.C. 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 

Grant Thornton Audit & 
Accounting Limited 
- SHJ BR 

Office 305 

Al Bakr Tower 5 
7 /9 Al Khan Street 
Sharjah, UAE 

T +9716 525 9691 
F +9716 525 9690 
ww~•1.grantthornton.ae 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RAK Properties PJ.S.C. (the "Company") and its 
subsidiaries (the "Group''), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit and loss, consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
material accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of Group as at 31 December 2023 and its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the .A11ditor's &.rpo11Iibilities far the A11dit of the Co11so/idated 
Fina11cial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) (''IESBA Code"), together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the requirements of IESBA Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the 
matters described below to be the key matters to be communicated in our report 

© 2024 Grant Thornton UAE • All rights reserved. Grant Thornton UAE represents all legal licenses under which Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting 
Limited Corporation, A British Virgin Islands ("BVI") registered Branch, operate In the UAE. These licenses include the Abu Dhabi, Dubai and SharJah 
based branches - Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting Limited - registered with the Abu Dhabi Global Market -Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting 
Limited Corporation BVI - registered with the Dubai Financial Services Authority. 
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"Grant Thornton• refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or 
refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm 
is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not 
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Grant Thornton 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the shareholders of RAK Properties P.J.S.C. 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

Key Audit Matters ( continued) 

i) Valuation of unquoted investments through other comprehensive income 

Note 9 to these consolidated financial statements shows that the Group's unquoted investments portfolio 
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income amounted to AED 20,270 thousand at 
31 December 2023 (2022: AED 40,108 thousand) and the net fair value loss recorded in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to AED 19,838 
thousand (2022: loss of AED 9,822 thousand). 

The determination of fair value of these unquoted investments involves significant judgements and is 
determined based on valuations undertaken by external valuers. 

We identified assessing the fair value of unquoted investments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income as a key audit matter because of the degree of complexity involved and significant 
judgement exercised in determining the inputs used in the valuation models. 

Our audit procedures, among others, included: 

• We obtained the valuation assessment report prepared by the external valuers; 
• We evaluated the external valuers qualifications, experience and expertise in the investments being 

valued and considered their objectivity, independence and scope of work; 
• We assessed whether the valuation methods used are in accordance with the established standards 

for valuation of the investments and determining the fair value; 
• On sample basis, we tested the inputs, if any, provided to the external valuers by management; 
• We involved our internal valuation specialists to review the valuation methodologies, key 

assumptions and critical judgements used by comparing these with market data, or other publicly 
available information, on selected investments; and 

• We assessed the disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements is in accordance with 
the requirements of IFRSs. 

ii) Valuation of investment properties 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group owns a portfolio of investment properties amounting to AED 
1,532,708 thousand (2022: AED 1,559,016 thousand) which comprising commercial properties, residential 
properties and various parcels of land. The Group incurred a net fair value gain recorded in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss amounting to AED 28,646 thousand during the year ended 31 December 2023 
(2022: AED 29,425 thousand) (Notes 6). 

These investment properties are stated at their fair values as determined by independent real estate valuers 
engaged by the Group ("the valuers''). The valuation process involves significant judgements in determining 
and estimating the underlying assumptions to be applied. The valuations are highly sensitive to key 
assumptions applied in deriving at the significant unobservable inputs and a small change in the assumptions 
can have a significant impact to the valuation. 

Our audit procedures, among others, included: 

We obtained the valuation assessment report prepared by the external valuers; 
• We evaluated the external valuers qualifications, experience and expertise in the investment 

properties being valued and considered their objectivity, independence and scope of work; 
• We assessed whether the valuation methods used are in accordance with the established standards 

for valuation of the properties and determining the fair value; 
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Grant Thornton 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the shareholders of RAK Properties P.J.S.C. 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

ii) Valuation of investment properties ( continued) 

• We involved our internal valuation specialists to review the valuation methodologies, key 
assumptions and critical judgements used by comparing these with market data, or other publicly 
available information, on selected properties; 

• On sample basis, we tested, whether property specific data provided to the external valuers by 
management reflected the underlying property records; and 

• We assessed the disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements is in accordance with 
the requirements of IFRSs. 

iii) Assessment of net realisable value of trading properties and trading properties under 
development 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has trading properties amounting to AED 38,552 thousand 
(2022: AED 42,140 thousand) and trading properties under development amounting to AED 1,341,869 
thousand (2022: AED 1,696,662 thousand) (Notes 8 and 12). Impairment loss recorded in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss amounted to AED 2,288 thousand (2022: AED 25,858 thousand) for trading 
properties under development and AED 710 thousand (2022: AED Nil) for trading properties. 

Trading properties and trading properties under development are stated at the lower of their costs and their 
net realisable values. The Group engaged independent real estate valuers to assess the net realisable value 
of substantial portion of its properties. The valuation process involves significant judgements in 
determining and estimating the underlying assumptions to be applied. Assessment of net realisable value 
requires management to make significant estimates and judgements. 

Our audit procedures, among others, included: 

• We obtained the assessment report prepared by the external valuers; 
• We evaluated the external valuers qualifications, experience and expertise and considered their 

objectivity, independence and scope of work; 
• With the assistance of our internal valuation specialist, we considered and assessed the 

reasonableness of valuation methodologies and assumptions used, such as estimated selling prices, 
in the valuation for selected properties; 

• On sample basis, we tested the inputs, if any, provided to the external valuers by management; 

• On sample basis, tested the net realisable value by comparing property cost to the estimated selling 
prices and assessed the appropriateness of the carrying value of such properties and any resultant 
write-down if any; and 

• We assessed the disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements is in accordance with 
the requirements of IFRSs. 
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Grant Thornton 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the shareholders of RAK Properties P.J.S.C. 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

iv) Revenue recognition from sale of units 

Revenue recognition from sale of units require significant judgements to be applied and estimates to be 
made. 

The Group assesses for each of its contracts with customers, whether to recognise revenue over a period 
of rime or at a point in rime based on the consideration of whether the Group has created an asset with no 
alternative use and whether the Group has an enforceable right for payment related to the satisfaction of 
performance obligations during the term of the contract. 

Where revenue is recognised over time, the Group estimates total development and infrastructure costs 
required to satisfy the performance obligations under the contract and recognises proportionate revenue to 
the extent of satisfaction of performance obligations as at the end of each reporting period. 

Revenue recognition on sale of units was assessed as a key audit matter due to the significance of the 
assessment of satisfaction of performance obligations and judgements made in assessing the timing of 
revenue recognition. 

Our audit procedures, among others, included: 

• 

• 

We obtained an understanding of the process implemented by the Group for revenue recognition 
and measurement in respect of sale of units; 
We inspected a sample of contracts with customers for sale of units and assessed management's 
identification of performance obligations and their determination of whether revenue should be 
recognised over a period of time or at a point in time in accordance with the requirements of 
IFRS 15, "Reve1111e jro111 Contract! 111ith C11sto,11erl' by making reference to the terms and conditions 
specified in the contracts; 
For those projects where it was determined by the Group's management to recognise revenue 
over a period of time, we assessed the contractual arrangements with the customers and the 
reasonableness of the costs estimated to complete the underlying project development; 
On a sample basis, we tested that the revenue is per the contract with customer and the costs 
incurred is per the progress of the project development based on the approved payment 
certification/ invoices. We checked the percentage of completion of the project by comparing 
the costs incurred to the estimated project development costs; and 
We assessed the disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements is in accordance with 
the requirements of IFRSs. 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors and management are responsible for the other information, The other information 
comprises the Board of Directors' report which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 
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Grant Thornton 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the shareholders of RAK Properties P.J.S.C. 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

Other Information ( continued) 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 

When we read the Board of Directors' report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, 
we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions 
in accordance with ISAs. 

Other Matter 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unqualified opinion on 11 February 2023. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of the 
UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 
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Grant Thornton 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the shareholders of RAK Properties P.J.S.C. 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidenced obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosure are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and perfonnance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate to those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated to those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law and regulations 
preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we deteonine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

9 



Grant Thornton 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
To the shareholders of RAK Properties P.J.S.C. 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

Report on other Legal and Regulatoty Requirements 

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021, we report that: 

i) We have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit; 

it) The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the 
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021; 

iii) The Group has maintained proper books of account in accordance with established accounting principles; 

iv) The financial information included in the Board of Directors' report, in so far as it relates to these 
consolidated financial statements, is consistent with the books of account of the Group; 

v) Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements discloses investment in securities by the Group during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023; 

vi) Notes 19 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and 
balances, and the terms under which they were conducted; 

vii) Based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which 
causes us to believe that the woup has contravened during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 
any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021, or in respect of the Company, 
its Articles of Association, which would materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial position 
as at 31 December 2023; and 

vfu) Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements discloses social contributions during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2023. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2023 

2023 2022 
ASSETS Notes AED '000 AED '000 
Non-current assets 
Property and equipment 5 1,868,205 1,648,737 
Investment properties 6 1,532,708 1,559,016 
Investment properties under development 7 28,098 44,299 
Trading properties under development 8 1,341,869 1,501,472 
Investments 9 20,270 40,108 
Investment in a joint venture 10 68,069 
Trade and other receivables 11 548,900 491,534 

5,408,119 5,285,166 
Current assets 
Trading properties under development 8 195,190 
Inventories 1,618 1,380 
Investments 9 3,249 5,447 
Trading properties 12 38,552 42,140 
Trade and other receivables 11 549,667 292,967 
Bank balances and cash 13 457,705 492,779 

1,050,791 1,029,903 
TOTAL ASSETS 6,458,910 6,315,069 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Share capital 14 2,000,000 2,000,000 
Statutory reserve 15 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Retained earnings 589,778 409,057 
Other reserves 16 714,577 713,112 
TOTAL EQUITY 4,304,355 4,122,169 

Non-current liabilities 
Employees' end-of-service benefits 17 5,635 4,051 
Borrowings 18 781,042 806,030 
Deferred government grants 6 369,662 388,484 
Trade payable, accruals and other liabilities 19 154,846 140,907 

1,311,185 1,339,472 
Current liabilities 
Borrowings 18 452,067 547,251 
Trade payable, accruals and other liabilities 19 391,303 306,177 

843,370 853,428 
TOT AL LIABILITIES 2,154,555 2,192,900 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,458,910 6,315,069 

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 202 approved by the Board 
of Directors and authorised for issuance on 12 February 2024 ands· on their half by: 

Abdul Aziz Abdullah.AlZaabi 
Chairman 

Sameh Muhtadi 
Chief Executive Officer 

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of profit and loss 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

Notes 

Revenue 20 1,004,891 408,219 

Cost of revenue 21 (658,491) (267,714) 

GROSS PROFIT 346,400 140,505 

Selling, marketing and administrative expenses 23 (139,380) (99,854) 

Other income 22 27,386 26,808 

Net change in fair value of investment properties 6 28,646 29,425 

Share of profit in joint venture 10 69 

Loss on impairment of trading properties under development 8, 12 (2,998) (25,858) 

Provision for expected credit losses 11 (3,588) (5,231) 

OPERATING PROFIT 256,535 65,795 

Finance costs 24 (66,129) (41,622) 

Finance income 13,609 6,812 

Dividend income 9 469 

Net change in fair value of investments through profit or loss 9 (2,198) (665) 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 201,817 30,789 

Earnings per share for the year -
basic and diluted (AED) 25 0.101 0.Q15 

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 

Other comprehensive loss: 
Ite111s that ,viii t1ol be reclassified to profit or loss Iii s11bseqNent periods: 

Net change in fair value investments at fair 
value through other comprehensive income 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 

Note 

9 

2023 
AED'000 

201,817 

(19,838) 

181,979 

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2022 
AED '000 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

Share Statutory Retained Other Total 
capital reserve earnings reserves equity 

AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED'000 

Balance at 1 January 2022 2,000,000 1,000,000 402,578 704,832 4,107,410 

Profit for the year 30,789 30,789 
Other comprehensive income for the year {9,822} {9,822} 
Total comprehensive income for the year 30,789 (9,822) 20,967 

Transfer to other reserves (Note 16) 
Transfer on sale of investments carried at fair value through other 

(3,792) 3,792 

comprehensive income (14,518) 14,518 
Board of Directors' remuneration (Note 26) (6,000) (6,000) 
Utilisation of reserves {208} {208} 
Balance at 31 December 2022 2,000,000 1,000,000 409,057 713,112 4,122,169 

Profit for the year 201,817 201,817 
Other comprehensive income for the year {19,838} {19,838} 
Total comprehensive income for the year 201,817 (19,838) 181,979 

Transfer to reserves 207 207 
Transfer to other reserves (Note 16) {21,303} 21,303 
Balance at 31 December 2023 2,000,000 1,000,000 589,778 714,577 4,304,355 

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

2023 2022 
Notes AED'000 AED '000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit for the year 201,817 30,789 
Atfj11.rt111e11t.r f017 
Depreciation 5 36,201 32,906 
Provision for employees' end-of-service benefits 17 1,842 1,275 
Dividend income (469) 
Net change in fair value of investments at fair value 
through profit or loss 2,198 665 
Gain on disposal of investments 22 (927) 
Net change in fair value of investment properties 6 (28,646) (29,425) 
Write down of trading properties under development 8 2,288 25,858 
Write down of trading properties 12 710 
Expected credit losses on trade, contract 
and other receivables 11 3,588 5,231 
Share of joint venture income 10 (69) 
Amortisation of government grant 6 (18,823) (14,374) 
Finance income (13,609) (6,812) 
Finance costs 24 66,129 41,622 
Cash from operations before working capital changes 253,626 86,339 

Trading properties (2,456) 6,173 
Trading properties under development 345,659 144,403 
Trade and other receivables (325,030) (47,126) 
Trade payable, accruals and other liabilities 165,597 66,855 
Inventories {237} {4692 
Net cash flows from operations 437,159 256,175 
Employees end of service indemnity paid 17 {258} {2622 
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 436,901 255,913 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Additions to property and equipment (227,795) (238,490) 
Additions to investment properties under development (12,331) (7,478) 
Interest received 10,764 5,691 
Dividend received 469 
Proceeds from disposal of investments 45,193 
Net cash used in investing activities {229,362} {194,6152 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Dividend paid (33,266) (4,145) 
Bank borrowings availed 18 96,247 423,769 
Bank borrowings repaid 18 (111,467) (360,656) 
Interest paid (55,909) (38,446) 
Board of directors' remuneration paid {6,0002 
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing 
activities {104,395} 14,522 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 103,144 75,820 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year {1,127} (76,9472 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13 102,017 ~1.1272 

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

1 Corporate information 

RAK Properties P J.S.C. (the "Company") is a public joint stock company established under Emiree Decree No. 
5 issued by the Ruler of the Emirate of Ras Al Khaimah on 16 February 2005 and commenced its operations on 
2 June 2005. The Company is listed in the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange, United Arab Emirates ("UAE"). The 
registered office of the Company is P.O. Box 31113, Ras Al Khaimah, UAE. 

The consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 comprises the Company 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as "the Group''). 

The principal activities of the Group are investment in and development of properties, property management, 
hotel operations, marina management and related services. 

2 Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) applicable 
provision of the Articles of Association of the Company and UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment 
properties, investment properties under development and investments, which are carried at fair value. Historical 
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 

(c) Functional and presentational currency 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in Arab Emirates Dirhams ("AED''), which is the functional 
currency of the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 

(d) Basis of consolldatlon 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Subsidiaries of the Company are as follows: 

Subsidiary 

RAK Properties International Limited 
Lagoon Marina Ship Management & 
Operation LLC 
RAK Properties Tanzania Limited 
Dolphin Marina Limited 
Intercontinental RAK Mina Al Arab 
Resorts & Spa L.L.C* 
RAK Properties Gayreimenkul Pazarlama 
Anonim Sirketi** 
Anantara Mina Al Arab Ras Al Khaimah Resort 
LLC*** 

Country of 
incorporation 

United Arab Emirates 
United Arab Emirates 

Tanzania 
Tanzania 
United Arab Emirates 

Turkey 

United Arab Emirates 

Ownership¾ 

31 December 31 December 
2023 2022 
100% 100% 
100% 100% 

100% 100% 
100% 100% 
100% 100% 

100% 100% 

100% -% 

* Incorporated on 19 May 2021 and commenced commercial operations from 10 February 2022. 
** Incorporated on 11 May 2022. 
*** Incorporated on 13 June 2023 

The principal activities of the above Subsidiaries are investment and development of properties, property 
management, hotel operations, marina management and related services. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(d) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

Subsidiaries 
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activ:ities 
of the Investee) 
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption 
and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies in line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are adjusted and 
eliminated in full on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, 
noncontrolling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

3 New or revised Standards or Interpretations 

New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with 
those followed in the preparation of the Group's annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2022, except for the adoption of new standards and interpretations effective as of 1 January 2023. The 
Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued that is not yet 
effective. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4) 

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 
12). 

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 

International Tax Reform-Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12) 

These amendments did not have a significant impact on these consolidated financial statements. and therefore, 
the disclosures have not been made. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet effective and have 
not been adopted early by the Group 
Other standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the 
Company include: 

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 

Lease Llability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16) 
Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7) 
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1) 

Lack ofExchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21) 

These standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements in the period of initial application and therefore no disclosures have been made. 

4 Summary of Material Accounting Policies 

4, 1 Overall Consideration 
The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements and 
estimates that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities and the accompanying 
disclosures. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

4.2 Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group 
recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. 

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria 
is met: 

l. The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's performance 
as the Group performs; 

2. The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is 
created or enhanced; or 

3. The Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 

For performance obligations where one of the above conditions are not met, revenue is recognised at the point in 
time at which performance obligation is satisfied. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

4 Summary of Material Accounting Policies 

4.2 Revenue Recognition (continued) 

(a) Revenues from the sale of properties 
The Group enters into contracts with customers to sell property that are either completed or .under 
development. 

Completed property 
The sale of completed property constitutes a single performance obligation and the Group has determined that 
this is satisfied at the point in time when control transfe.rs. 

Under development property 
For contracts relating to the sale of property under development, the Group is responsible for the overall 
management of the project and accounts for such contracts as a single performance obligation. The Group has 
determined that, for sale of under development property, its performance does not create an asset with alternative 
use to the Group and it has concluded that, at all times, it has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date. Therefore, control transfers over time for these contracts. 

For contracts that meet the over time revenue recognition criteria, the Group's performance is measured using 
an input method, by reference to the costs incurred to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the 
total expected inputs to the completion of the property. 

Revenue from under development property is recognised when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated 
reliably, by reference to the stage of completion of the development obligation at the reporting date. Where the 
outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are 
eligible to be recovered. 

Other consideration related to the sale of property 
In determining the transaction price, the Group considers the effects of the existence of significant financing 
components, non-cash consideration, and consideration payable to the customer (if any). 

When a significant financing component is identified, the Group is required to adjust the promised amount of 
consideration for the effects of the time value of money. This is because the Group is required to recognise revenue 
at an amount that reflects the price that the customer would have paid for the promised goods or services if the 
customer had paid in cash for those goods or services when (or as) they transfer to the customer. 

For sale of property, the Group is required to incorporate the element of significant financing component in the 
trade and contract receivables recorded by the Group as the transaction implicitly &>ives a financing facility to the 
customer to pay the amount in future. 

The Group usually repossesses properties from customers upon a default by them in fulfilling their contractual 
obligations. Such properties are measured at their fair value less cost to sell at the repossession date. The difference 
between such fair value less cost to sell the properties repossessed and the carrying amount of the trade receivables 
and contract assets is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, as follows: (a) if higher, 
as revenue; and (b) if lower, as an impairment loss against the trade receivables and contract assets. 

(b) Revenue recognition for hotel operations 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods are transferred or services 
rendered to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled 
in exchange for those goods and services. The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue 
arrangements because it typically controls the goods or services before transferring to the customer, has pricing 
latitude and is also exposed to inventory and credit risks. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable net of discounts, service charges 
and municipality taxes, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

4 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 

4.2 Revenue Recognition (continued) 

(b) Revenue recognition for hotel operations (continued) 

(i) Room revenue 
Rooms revenue represents revenue generated from the accommodation provided to its customers in respect to 
rooms' accommodation. Performance obligation is satisfied, and revenue is recognised over the passage of time 
based on period of stay of customers. Based on the assessment performed by the Group's management, the 
customers do not have right of returns, there are no variable considerations, warranty obligations or material loyalty 
points. Generally, advances are received from customers which are disclosed under contract liabilities. Using the 
practical expedient in IFRS 15, the Company does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects 
of a significant financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between the transfer of the 
promised good or service to the customer and when he customer pays for that good or service will be one year or 
less. 

(ii) Revenue from food and beverage, other departments, and service charge 
Performance obligation for food and beverage, other departments, and service charge is satisfied and revenue is 
recognised at a point in time, which is generally upon fulfilment of the customer order and provision of services 
to customers. 

(c) Facility management income 
Revenue from services such as property management and facilities management is recognised in the period in 
which the services are rendered over the period of time. 

(d) Leasing income 
Leasing income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 
granted are recognised as an integral part of the total lease income, over the term of the lease. 

(e) Forfeiture income 
Forfeiture income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when, in the case of properties sold 
and not yet recognised as revenue, a customer does not fulfil the contractual payment terms. 

4.3 Contract balances 

Contract assets 
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the 
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before 
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. 

Trade receivables 
A receivable represents the Group's right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage 
of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of financial assets 
under the section Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement. 

Contract liabilities 
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received 
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before 
the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made 
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group 
performs under the contract. 

Cost to obtain a contract 
The Group pays sales commission to its employees for contracts that they obtain to sell certain units of property 
and capitalises the incremental costs of obtaining a contract that meet the criteria in IFRS 15. These costs are 
reco!:,>nised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss coinciding with the revenue recognition for such 
property. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

4 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 

4A Value added tax 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax, except: 

When the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case, the value added tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense item, as applicable 
When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of value added tax included 

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the consolidated financial statements. 

4.5 Finance Income 

Finance income mainly comprises interest income on fixed deposits. Interest income is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method (EIR). EIR is the 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipt through the expected life of the financial 
asset or liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 

4.6 Dividend income 

Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the date on which the Group's 
right to receive payment is established. 

4. 7 Property and equipment Including capital work-In-progress 

Recognition and measurement 
Items of property and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part 
of the equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. 

If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for 
as separate items of property and equipment 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. 

Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the 
expenditure will flow to the Group. When significant parts of equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, 
the Group depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is 
performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the equipment as a replacement if the recognition 
criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or 
loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included 
in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met. 

Derecognition 
An item of property and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., 
at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset ( calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognised. 

21 



RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements ( continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

4 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 

4.7 Property and equipment including capital work-in-progress (continued) 

Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of each part of an item of property and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives 
for are as follows: 

Buildings 
Hotel Equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Computer and office equipment 
Motor vehicles 

20-40 years 
15 years 
4 years 
4 years 
4 years 

Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

Capital work-in-progress 
Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses (refer accounting policy on 
impairment), if any, until the construction is complete. Upon completion of construction, the cost of such asset 
together with the cost directly attributable to construction are transferred to the respective class of assets. No 
depreciation is charged on capital work-in-progress. 

4.8 Investment properties and investment properties under development 

Recognition 
Land and buildings owned by the Group for the purposes of generating rental income or capital appreciation or 
both are classified as investment properties. Properties that are being constructed or developed for future use as 
investment properties are classified as investment properties under development. 

Measurement 
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including related transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are accounted for using fair value model. Any gain or loss arising from a change 
in fair value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Where the fair value of investment 
property under development is not reliably determinable, such property is measured at cost until the earlier of the 
date construction is completed and the date at which fair value becomes reliably measurable. 

Transfer from trading properties to investment properties 
Certain trading properties are transferred to investment properties when there is a change in the use of the 
properties. Trading properties are transferred to investment properties at carrying value. Subsequent to initial 
measurement, such properties are valued at fair value in accordance with the measurement policy for investment 
properties. 

Transfer from investment properties to trading properties 
Properties are transferred from investment properties to trading properties when there is a change in use of the 
property. Such transfers are made at the carrying value of the properties at the date of transfer. Fair value at the 
date of reclassification becomes the cost of properties transferred for subsequent accounting purposes. 
Subsequent to the transfer, such properties are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value in accordance with 
the measurement policy for trading properties. 

Transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties 
If an investment property becomes owner-occupied property, it is reclassified as property and equipment. Its fair 
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes. 

Transfer from owner-occupied property to investment properties 
When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is transferred to 
investment properties at carrying value. Subsequent to initial measurement, such properties are valued at fair value 
in accordance with the measurement policy for investment properties. 
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RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements ( continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

4 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 

4.9 Trading properties and trading properties under development 

Land and buildings identified as trading properties based on underlying masterplan, including buildings under 
construction, are classified as such and are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. The cost 
of work-in-progress comprises construction costs and other related direct/ operating costs. Net realisable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, less cost of completion and selling expenses. 

The amount of any write down of trading properties is recognised as an expense in the period the write down or 
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write down arising from an increase in net realisable value is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which the increase occurs but only to the 
extent that the carrying value does not exceed the actual cost. 

Cost of trading properties is determined on the basis of specific identification of their individual costs. The 
classification of trading properties under development as current and non-current depends upon the expected date 
of their completion. 

4.10 Financial Instruments 

(i) Classification and measurement 

Financial assets 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income ("FVOCI") or fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"). The classification of financial 
assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the Group's business model in which a financial asset is managed and 
its contractual cash flow characteristics. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant 
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction 
price determined under IFRS 15. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as 
atFVPL: 

it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are; solely; payments of principal 
and interest on the outstanding principal amount. 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCL This election is made on an investment-by­
investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at 
FVPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable ,vithout a significant financing component tl1at is initially measured 
at the transaction price) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVPL, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to its acquisition. 

Financial liabilities 
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity instruments in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual agreements. Financial liabilities within the scope ofIFRS 9 are classified as financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivative instrument as appropriate. The 
Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at the initial recognition. 

Trade payable, accruals and other liabilities 
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by 
the supplier or not. 
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4,10 Financial Instruments (continued) 

(i} Classification and measurement (continued) 

Loans and borrowings 
Term loans are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction 
costs. 

(ii) Subsequent measurement 

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 

Financial assets at fair value through pro.it or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated 
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured 
at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest 
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. 

Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, 
as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if 
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments 
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis. 

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other 
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group 
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are 
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment 
assessment. 

Financial assets at amortised cost 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost 
is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process. 
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4.10 Financial Instruments (continued) 

{iii) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instrnments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale 
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms 

The Group measures impairment allowances using the simplified approach. Under this approach, the Group 
categorises its financial assets under a three stage approach to measure allowance for credit losses, using an 
expected credit loss approach as required under IFRS 9, for the financial assets that are not measured at FVPL or 
FVOCI. Financial assets mi!,rrate through three stages based on the change in credit risk since initial recognition. 

The three-stage ECL model is based on the change in credit quality of financial assets since initial reco6rnition. 

Under Stage 1, where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an 
amount equal to 12 months ECL will be recorded. 
Under Stage 2, where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but the 
financial instrnments are not considered as credit impaired, an amount equal to the default probability­
weighted lifetime ECL will be recorded. 
Under the Stage 3, where there is objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date these financial 
instruments are classified as credit impaired and an amount equal to the lifetime ECL will be recorded for 
the financial assets. 

The ECL model is fo1ward looking and requires the use of reasonable and supportable forecasts of future 
economic conditions in the determination of significant increases in credit risk and measurement of ECL. This 
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and 
informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. 

Measurement of ECL 
The Group employs statistical models for ECL calculations. 

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all 
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECL are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial 
asset. 

Credit-impaired financial assets 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit impaired. A 
financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Presentation of impairment 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of 
the assets. 
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4.10 Financial Instruments (continued) 

(iv) Derecognition 

Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or.part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when: 

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a passthrough 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. 

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

Financial liabilities 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when, and only when, its contractual obligations are discharged, 
cancelled, or they expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the 
cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the 
modified terms is recognised at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the 
carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed) is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

(v) Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if there is a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and there is an intension to settle 
them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

4.11 Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's 
other components. The results of the operating segments are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. 

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property and equipment, costs 
incurred for purchase of investment properties or redevelopment of existing investment properties and costs 
incurred towards development of properties which are either intended to be sold or transferred to investment 
properties. 
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4.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than investment 
properties, inventories, contract assets, trading properties and trading properties under development) to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount 
is estimated. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and 
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating 
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions 
can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation 
multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators. The 
recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value 
in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU is exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

4.13 Equity and reserves 

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 

Statutory reserve is required to be created by UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 as described in note 15. 

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, 10% of the net profit for the year is transferred to 
the general reserve. 

Retained earnings include all current year profit and prior period retained earnings. 

Fair value reserve represents the net unrealised gains or losses that are recognised on the financial assets at 
FVOCI. 

All transactions with the shareholder is recorded separately within statements of changes in equity. 

Dividend distributed and paid are recorded when these dividends are approved in general meeting prior to the 
reporting date. Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders. 

4.14 Government grants 

Government grants related to assets are initially recognised as deferred income at fair value if there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. They 
are then recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as other income on a systematic basis upon the 
fulfilment of conditions stipulated by the Government. 

Such grants are generally received with the implicit condition that they are to be utilised for development, and 
accordingly, the fulfilment of the condition is estimated based on the progress of development activities. 
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4.15 Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. Borrowing costs consist of 
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which they 
are incurred. 

4.16 Provisions and accruals 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and 
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

4.17 Employee benefits 

Defined contribution plan 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 

UAE national employees of the Group are members of the Government-managed retirement pension and social 
security benefit scheme pursuant to U.A.E. labour law no. 7 of 1999. The Group is required to contribute 12.5% 
of the "contribution calculation salary" of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The 
employees and the Government contribute 5% and 2.5% of the "contribution calculation salary" respectively, to 

the scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement pension and social security scheme is 
to make the specified contributions. 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent a cash refund or a reduction in future payments 
is available. 

Provision for employees' end of service benefits 
Provision is made for the full amount of end of service benefit due to non-UAE national employees in accordance 
with the UAE Labour Law and is based on current remuneration and their period of service at the end of the 
reporting period. 

The accrual relating to leave passage is disclosed as a current liability, while the provision relating to end of 
service indemnity it is disclosed as a non-current liability. 

Short-term employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the 
amount expected to be paid if the Group bas a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a 
result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Directors' remuneration 
Pursuant to Article 169 of the Federal Law No. 32 of 2021 and in accordance with article of association of the 
Company, the Directors shall be entitled for remuneration, which shall not exceed 10% of the net profit after 
deducting depreciation and the reserves. 
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4.18 Foreign currency 

Transactions in foreign currency are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Group companies 
at the exchange rates at the dates of transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non­
monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate 
at the date of transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. 

Foreign operations 
The results and financial position of all the foreign operations that have a functional currency different from 
the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate 
at the date of the statement of financial position; 

(ii) Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are translated at average exchange rates; and 
(iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity. 

Since 2022, Turkey became a hyperinflationary economy. Management performed a detailed assessment of the 
impact of applying !AS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies. Based on the assessment 
management determined that the impact of applying !AS 29 is not material to consolidated financial statements 
of the Group. 

4.19 Fair value measurement 

The Group measures certain financial instruments such as financial assets (investments) at FVPL, and certain 
non- financial assets such as investment properties at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. 

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either: 

In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value 
measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use 
the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 
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4.19 Fair value measurement (continued) 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorised in different levels of the 
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. For assets and liabilities that are 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. 

This includes a management team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value 
measurements, including Level 3 fair values. The management team regularly reviews significant unobservable 
inputs and valuation adjustments. 

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as properties. If third party is used to measure 
fair values, the management team discusses with the valuer the valuation techniques and inputs to use and assesses 
the evidence obtained from the third party to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements 
of IFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified. 

4.20 Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances 
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short­
term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the 
Group's cash management. 

4,21 Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value with due allowance for any obsolete or slow­
moving items. Costs are those expenses incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition on 
a weighted average cost basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course ofbusiness, 
less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

4.22 Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per 
share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is determined by 
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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4.23 Leases 

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have 
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also 
applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of assets that are considered to be low value. 
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

Group as a lessor 
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms and is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term 
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are 
earned. 

4.24 Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current/ non­
current classification. An asset is current when it is: 

Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle 
Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current. A 

liability is current when: 

It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle 
It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

4.25 Joint arrangements 

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the 
contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Group assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and 
determined it to be a joint venture. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognized at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognize the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. When the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its 
interests in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's 
net investmentin the joint ventures), the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures. 

31 



RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements ( continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

4 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 

4.26 Significant accounting judgements and estimates 

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements 
and estimates that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities and the accompanying 
disclosures. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

4.27 Judgements 

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing 
of revenue from contracts with customers: 

Determining the timing of revenue recognition on the sale of property 
The Group has evaluated the timing of revenue recognition on the sale of property based on a careful analysis of 
the rights and obligations under the terms of the contract. The Group has concluded that contracts relating to the 
sale of completed property are recognised at a point in time when control transfers. For contracts relating to the 
sale of property under development, the Group recognises the revenue over a period of time as the Group's 
performance does not create an asset with alternative use. Furthermore, the Group has an enforceable right to 
payment for performance completed to date. It has considered the factors that indicate that it is restricted 
(contractually or practically) from readily directing the property under development for another use during its 
development. In addition, the Group is, at all times, entitled to an amount that at least compensates it for 
performances completed to date. In making this determination, the Group has carefully considered the contractual 
terms as well as local legislations. 

The Group has determined that the input method is the best method for measuring progress for these contracts 
because there is a direct relationship between the costs incurred by the Group and the transfer of goods and 
services to the customer. 

Principal versus agent considerations - services to tenants 
The Group arranges for certain services provided to tenants of investment property included in the contract the 
Group enters into as a lessor. The Group has determined that it controls the services before they are transferred 
to tenants, because it has the ability to direct the use of these services and obtain the benefits from them. In 
making this determination, the Group has considered that it is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to 
provide these specified services. In addition, the Group has discretion in establishing the price that it charges to 
the tenants for the specified services. 

Therefore, the Group has concluded that it is the principal in these contracts. In addition, the Group has 
concluded that it transfers control of these services over time, as services are rendered by the third-party service 
providers, because this is when tenants receive and, at the same time, consume the benefits from these services. 

Consideration of significant financing component in a contract 
For contracts involving the sale of property, the Group is entitled to receive an initial deposit. The Group 
concluded that this is not considered a significant financing component because it is for reasons other than the 
provision of financing to the Group. The initial deposits are used to protect the Group from the other party failing 
to adequately complete some or all of its obligations under the contract where customers do not have an 
established credit history. 

Cost to complete the projects 
The Group estimates the cost to complete the projects in order to determine the cost attributable to revenue being 
recognised. These estimates include cost of design and consultancy, construction, potential claims by contractors 
as evaluated by the project consultant and the cost of meeting other contractual obligations to the customers. 
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4.27 Judgements (continued) 

(ii) Going Concern 
Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that 
the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, Management is not 
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going 
concern. Therefore, these financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. 

(iii) Leases - Property lease classification - the Group as lessor 
The Group has entered into commercial and residential property leases on its investment property portfolio. The 
Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease 
term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, that it 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of this property and accounts for the 
contracts as operating leases 

(iv) Classification of properties 
In the process of classifying properties, management has made various judgements. Judgement is needed to 
determine whether a property qualifies as an investment property, property and equipment and/ or trading property. 
The Group develops criteria so that it can exercise that judgement consistently in accordance with the definitions 
of investment property, property and equipment and trading property. In making its judgement, management 
considered the detailed criteria and related guidance for the classification of properties as set out in IAS 2, IAS 16 
and IAS 40, in particular, the intended usage of property as determined by the management. Trading properties are 
grouped under current assets, as intention of the management is to sell it within one year from the end of the 
reporting date. 

4.28 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The key assumptions concerning future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available 
when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing.circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control 
of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Valuation of investment properties and investment properties under development 
The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent real estate valuation experts using recognised 
valuation methods. These methods comprise the sales comparable method and discounted cash flow method. The 
discounted cash flow method requires the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets (comprising of 
leasing rates, future revenue streams, construction costs and associated professional fees, and financing cost, etc.), 
targeted internal rate of return and developer's risk and targeted profit. These estimates are based on local market 
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. Under the income capitalisation method, the income 
receivable under existing lease agreements and projected future rental streams are capitalised at appropriate rates to 
reflect the investment market conditions at the valuation dates. The Group's undiscounted future cash flows 
analysis and the assessment of expected remaining holding period and income projections on the existing operating 
assets requires management to make significant estimates and judgements related to future rental yields and 
capitalisation rates. Refer note 6 and note 7 for the fair valuation of investment properties and investment properties 
under development, respectively. 

Estimation of net realisable value for trading properties and trading properties under development 
The Group's management reviews the trading properties and trading properties under development to assess 
impairment, if there is an indication of impairment. In determining whether impairment losses should be recognised 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss, the management assesses the current selling prices of the property 
units and the anticipated costs for completion of such property units for properties which remain unsold at the 
reporting date. If the current selling prices are lower than the anticipated total cost at completion, an impairment 
provision is recognised for the identified loss to reduce the cost of development properties to its net realisable 
value. 
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4 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 

4.28 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Calculation of expected credit loss allowance 
The Group assesses the impairment of its financial assets based on the ECL model. Under the expected credit loss 
model, the Group accounts for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at the end of each 
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. The Group measures 
the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for its financial instruments. When measuring ECL, the 
Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future 
movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. Loss given default is an 
estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and 
those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit 
enhancements. Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate 
of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions 
and expectations of future conditions. 

Impairment of property and equipment and capital work in progress 
Impairment of property and equipment and capital work in progress The Group reviews its property and 
equipment and capital work in progress to assess impairment, if there is an indication of impairment. In 
determining whether impairment losses should be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the 
Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a reduction in the 
carrying value of property and equipment or capital work in progress. Accordingly, provision for impairment is 
made where there is an identified loss event or condition which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a 
reduction in the carrying value of property and equipment or capital work in progress. 

Useful lives of property and equipment 
The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment for calculating 
depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical wear and 
tear. Management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually and future depreciation charge would be 
adjusted where the management believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates. 

Valuation of unquoted investments 
Valuation of unquoted investments is normally based on one of the following: 

Recent arm's length market transactions; 
The expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for the items and with similar terms and 
risk characteristics; or 
Other valuation models 

The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments requires significant 
estimation. The Group calibrates the valuation techniques periodically and tests them for validity using either 
prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument or from other available observable 
market data. Refer to note 29 for estimates applied and amount involved. 
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5 Property and equipment 

Furniture Computer 
Plots Hotel and and office Motor Capital work -

of land Buildings equipment fixtures equipment vehicles in-progress Total 
AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 

Cost 
As at 1 January 2022 561,598 169,228 4,856 9,387 829 767,033 1,512,931 
Additions 2,384 581 602 536 234,178 238,281 
Transfers on completion 498,634 37,829 27,298 (563,761) 
Transfers from investment properties under 
development (Note 7) 14,732 14,732 
At 31 December 2022 561,598 684,978 37,829 32,735 9,989 1,365 437,450 1,765,944 

Additions 5,671 1,370 328 444 207,522 215,335 
Transfers from investment properties (Note 6) 
Transfers from investment properties under 

27,406 27,406 

development (Note 7) 12,669 259 12,928 
At 31 December 2023 589,004 703,318 37,829 34,105 10,317 1,809 645,231 2,021,613 

Accumulated depreciation: 
As at 1 January 2022 71,063 4,527 7,963 748 84,301 
Charge for the year 23,663 2,233 6,205 702 103 32,906 
At 31 December 2022 94,726 2,233 10,732 8,665 851 117,207 

Charge for the year 25,710 2,522 7,221 585 163 36,201 
At 31 December 2023 120,436 4,755 17,953 9,250 1,014 153,408 

Net book value 
As at 31 December 2023 589,004 582,882 33,074 16,152 1,067 795 645,231 1,868,205 

As at 31 December 2022 561,598 590,252 35,596 22,003 1,324 514 437,450 1,648,737 
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5 Property and equipment (continued) 

The depreciation charge has been allocated as follows: 

Cost of revenue (Note 21) 
Selling, marketing and administrative expenses (Note 23) 

At 31 December 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

6,448 6,448 
29,753 26,458 
36,201 32,906 

Property and equipment mainly comprises land and buildings that are located in United Arab Emirates. 

Capital work-in-progress represents expenditure incurred on the construction of a hotel, which is intended to be 
used according to the Group's relevant business model. The construction work on hotel property (Anantara Mina 
Al Arab) is ongoing at the reporting date and management expects to start the operation of this hotel in the year 
2024. The Group is not committed to a significant capital commitment in respect of the construction of the hotel 
project as at 31 December 2023. 

Capital work in progress includes borrowing cost capitalised during the year amounting to AED 26,525 thousand 
(2022: AED 19,166 thousand), calculated using an average capitalisation rate of 8.1 6% (2022: 5.21 %) per annum. 

During the prior year and effective 10 February 2022, the Group commenced operations of a hotel property 
(Intercontinental Hotel) pursuant to which capital work in progress amounting to AED 563,761 thousand was 
capitalized during the prior year. The depreciation associated with hotel property amounted to AED 25,730 
thousand in the current year (2022: AED 22,601 thousand). 

Property and equipment pertaining to hotel properties with net book value of AED 1,563,921 thousand as 
at 31 December 2023 (2022: AED 1,350,121 thousand) and certain other items of property and equipment 
are mortgaged against bank borrowings (Note 18). 
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6 Investment properties 

At 1 January 
Change in fair value 
Transfer to property and equipment (Note 5) 
Transfer to trading properties under development (Note 8) 
Transfer from trading properties (Note 12) 
Transfer to investment in a joint venture (Note 10) 
At 31 December 

2023 
AED '000 

1,559,016 
28,646 

(27,406) 

6,044 
(33,592) 

1,532,708 

2022 
AED '000 

1,568,192 
29,425 

(41,953) 
3,352 

1,559,016 

Investment property comprises land parcels and a number of residential and commercial properties that are 
leased to third parties. The Group has neither restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties nor 
significant contractual obligations to purchase, construct, develop or repair investment properties. 

Investment properties are located in Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates. 

The following table shows the net income arising form investment properties: 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

Rental income derived from investment properties (Note 20) 
Direct operating expenses generating rental income (Note 21) 

29,797 
(2,098) 

28,857 
(3,148) 

Net income arising from investment properties carried at fair value 27,699 25,709 

The fair values of the investment properties are arrived on the basis of a valuation carried out by independent 
valuers not related to the Group. The valuers are members of professional valuers' associations and have 
appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties at the relevant locations. 

A valuation model recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee has been applied which 
is consistent with the principles of IFRS 13. In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, 
management has concluded that the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. The fair value 
measurement for all of the investment properties has been categorised as Level 3-fair value based on the inputs 
to the valuation technique used. The value of the investment properties has been determined through analysis 
of the following: 

Valuation technique underlying management's 
estimation of fair value 
Discounted cash Dow method: 
The fair value is estimated using assumptions regarding 
the benefits and liabilities of ownership over the asset's 
life including an exit or terminal value. This method 
involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a real 
property interest. To this projected cash flow series, a 
market-derived discount rate is applied to establish the 
present value of the income stream associated with the 
asset. The exit yield is normally separately determined 
and differs from the discount rate. 
Sales comparable method: 
This method involves analysing sales and asking prices 
of similar units and comparing these to the subject 
property. Comparative analysis is based on similarities in 
the property rights appraised, market conditions, size, 
location and physical features. 
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Significant unobservable inputs 

Based on the type and location of the property, 
the value of each of the properties has been 
determined by assuming discount rates of 10% 
to 12% (2022: 10% to 12%) and exit cap rates of 
8% to 8.5% (2022: 8% to 8.5%). 

The fair value for the properties valued under 
the discounted cash flow method are sensitive to 
the change in the above factors. 

Prices of land parcels range from AED 3.6 per 
square foot to AED 1,415 per square foot 
(2022: AED 4 per square foot to AED 1,312 per 
square foot). 
Prices of commercial properties range from 
AED 300 to AED 1901 per square foot 
(2022: AED 300 to AED 1,721 per square foot). 
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6 Investment properties (continued) 

The Government of Ras Al Khaimah had granted certain plots of land with an aggregate area of 66,977 thousand 
square feet on the condition that these plots of land undergo development. 

During the year, the management has reassessed the use of certain investment properties. In the view of the 
Board of Director, these properties with an associated cost of AED 27,406 thousand will be developed and used 
by the Group for its own use, therefore value of such properties have been transferred to property and equipment 
(2022: AED Nil). During the current year, no investment properties were transferred to trading properties under 
development (2022: AED 41,953 thousand). 

Certain items of investment properties are mortgaged against bank borrowings (Note 18). 

Deferred government grant 
The Group has accounted for the portion of land granted as deferred government grant. This deferred 
government grant will be released on the fulfilment of the conditions stipulated by the Government of Ras Al 
Khamiah and is based on the progress of development activities. During the current year, management has 
recognised an amount of AED 18,823 thousand (2022: AED 14,374 thousand) to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss as amortisation of government grant (Note 22). Remaining amount of deferred government grant 
as at 31 December 2023 is AED 369,662 thousand (2022: AED 388,484 thousand). 

7 Investment properties under development 

At 1January 
Cost incurred 
Transferred to property and equipment (Note 5) 
Transferred to trading properties under development (Note 8) 
At 31 December 

2023 
AED '000 

44,299 
25,259 

(12,928) 
(28,532) 
28,098 

2022 
AED '000 

65,197 
7,478 

(14,732) 
(13,644) 
44,299 

Investment properties under development are located in Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates. The Group has 
neither restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties nor significant contractual obligations to 
purchase, construct, develop or repair investment properties. 

Cost incurred includes borrowing costs capitalised during the year amounting to AED 1,891 thousand 
(2022: AED Nil), calculated using an average capitalisation rate of 8.16% (2022: 5.21%) per annum. 

Certain items of investment properties under development are mortgaged against bank borrowings (Note 18). 
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8 Trading properties under development 

At 1 January 
Cost incurred 
Cost of properties sold 
Transfer from investment properties (Note 6) 
Transfer to investment in a joint venture (Note 10) 
Transfer from investment properties under development (Note 7) 
Impairment loss 
Transfer to trading properties (Note 12) 
At 31 December 

2023 
AED '000 

1,696,662 
182,719 

(346,831) 

(34,408) 
28,532 
(2,288) 

(182,517) 
1,341,869 

The following table shows the location wise of the trading properties under development. 

2023 
AED '000 

Inside UAE 1,328,054 
Outside UAE 13,815 

1,341,869 
Less: classified as current assets 
Classified as non-current assets 1,341,869 

2022 
AED '000 

1,811,327 
34,301 

(62,771) 
41,953 

13,644 
(25,858) 

(115,934) 
1,696,662 

2022 
AED '000 
1,680,559 

16,103 
1,696,662 
(195,190) 
1,501,472 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group determined net realisable value of trading properties under development. 

The estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date of the 
amount that the Group is expected to realise from the sale of these properties in its ordinary course of business. 
These estimates also take into consideration the purpose for which such properties are held. The determination 
of net realisable value of trading properties under development is based on external valuations using various 
valuation methodologies and techniques. The valuers are members of professional valuers' associations and have 
appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties at the relevant locations. 

Certain items of trading properties under development are mortgaged against bank borrowings (Note 18). 

During the year, Board of Directors decided to write down net realisable value of AED 2,288 thousand 
(2022: AED 25,858 thousand) based on an independent valuation of net realisable value of trading properties 
under development. 
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9 Investments 

Non-current investments 
At fair value through other comprehensive income 

Investments within UAE 
Unquoted equity investments 

Investments outside UAE 
Unquoted real estate funds 
Unquoted equity investments 

Current investments 
At fair value through profit and loss 
Unquoted equity investments 

Total investments 

2023 
AED '000 

1,898 

3,320 
15,052 
20,270 

3,249 
3,249 

23,519 

2022 
AED '000 

6,098 

16,445 
17,565 
40,108 

5,447 
5,447 

45,555 

During the year, no dividend income from these investments were received (2022: AED 469 thousand). 

A reconciliation of investments measured at fair value based on significant unobservable inputs Qevel 3 fair value) 
is as follows: 

At 1 January 
Disposals 
Change at fair value through profit and loss, net 
Change at fair value through other comprehensive income, net 
At 31 December 

2023 
AED '000 

45,555 

(2,198) 
(19,838) 

23,519 

2022 
AED '000 

56,355 
(313) 
(665) 

(9,822) 
45,555 

The details of valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the measurement of fair value of investments 
are mentioned in Note 29. 
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10 Investment in a Joint Venture 

Investment in a joint venture 

2023 
AED '000 

68,069 

2022 
AED '000 

During the year, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement (''.JV A") and a Development Management 
Agreement ("DMA''), collectively referred to as "the agreements", with Ellington Properties Development LLC 
("Ellington''). Whereby, the Group intends to develop a plot of land situated on Hayat Island, Ras Al Khaimah into 
a premium development (the "Project'') and granted a power of attorney in favour of Ellington, appointing it to 
manage the development of Porto Playa project. 

Under the agreements, the Group's contribution in the Project shall be the Land with initial value of 
AED 68 million. Ellington shall, without any set-off, counterclaim or deduction, contribute the development 
funding for the Project in an amount equal to the Land Value, such contribution shall include the Development 
Manager Fee during the project development duration. To facilitate this arrangement, Ellington incorporated a 
development company called "Ellington Development FZ-LLC", of which Ellington owns 100% of the share 
capital, however, under the agreements both control and profit shall be on an equal 50:50 basis between the Group 
and Ellington. 

Movement in the investment in a joint venture during the year is as follow: 

At 1 January 
Transfer from investment properties (Note 6) 
Transfer from trading properties under development (Note 8) 
Initial investment to the joint venture 
Share of profit 
At 31 December 
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2023 
AED '000 

33,592 
34,408 
68,000 

69 
68,069 

2022 
AED '000 
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11 Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables (Note 20) 
Contract assets (Note 20) 
Trade receivables and contract assets, gross 
Less: Provision for expected credit losses 
Trade receivables and contract assets, net 
Other receivables 

Advances to suppliers and contractors 
VAT receivables 
Prepayments 

Less: Non-current portion of trade and other receivables 

2023 
AED '000 

533,096 
326,831 
859,927 
(25,236) 
834,691 
142,893 
977,584 

111,572 
7,452 
1,959 

120,983 
1,098,567 
(548,900) 

549,667 

2022 
AED '000 

524,550 
159,521 
684,071 
(21,648) 
662,423 
42,489 

704,912 

73,654 
4,179 
1,756 

79,589 
784,501 

(491,534) 
292,967 

Advances to suppliers and contractors include an amount of AED 18,841 thousand (2022: AED 18,841 thousand) 
paid to a real estate entity for purchase of parcels of land in Abu Dhabi. The legal formalities for purchase of 
parcels of land is in progress and is expected to be completed during the year ending 31 December 2024. 

Trade receivables are secured by post-dated cheques amounting to AED 424,284 thousand (2022: AED 460,007 
thousand). 

The movement in the allowance of expected credit loss during the year is as follows: 

At 1 January 
Provision for expected credit loss 
At 31 December 

2023 
AED '000 

21,648 
3,588 

25,236 

The ageing analysis of gross trade receivables and contract assets and expected credit loss is as follows: 

2022 
AED '000 

16,417 
5,231 

21,648 

----------------2023------------------ --------------------2022--------------------
Gross Expected Gross Expected 

carrying Expected credit loss carrying Expected credit loss 
amount credit loss rate amount credit loss rate 

AED'OOO AED' 000 % AED' 000 AED'000 % 

Neither past due nor impaired 724,287 15,027 2.1% 602,922 16,394 2.7% 
Past due but not impaired 
0-30 days 103,933 2,156 2.1% 44,934 1,222 2.7% 
30-60 days 2,239 46 2.1% 2,321 63 2.7% 
60-90 days 1,191 25 2.1% 187 5 2.7% 
> 90 Days 28,277 7,982 28.2% 33,707 3,964 11.8% 

859,927 25,236 2.9% 684,071 21,648 3.2% 
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12 Trading properties 

At 1 January 

Transferred to investment properties (Note 6) 
Cost incurred 

Transfer from trading properties under development (Note 8) 
Cost of properties sold 
Impairment 

At 31 December 

The following table shows the location wise of the trading properties: 

Current: 
InsideUAE 

Outside UAE 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED'000 

42,140 26,114 
(6,044) (3,352) 

31,627 
182,517 115,934 

(179,351) (128,183) 
(710) 

38,552 42,140 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

24,789 27,667 
13,763 14,473 
38,552 42,140 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group determined net realisable value of trading properties. The estimates of net 
realisable values are based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date of the amount that the 
Group is expected to realise from the sale of these properties in its ordinary course ofbusiness. These estimates 
also take into consideration the purpose for which such properties are held. The determination of net realisable 
value of trading properties is based on external valuations using various valuation methodologies and techniques. 
The valuers are members of professional valuers' associations and have appropriate qualifications and experience 
in the valuation of properties at the relevant locations. 

During the current year, the Board of Directors decided to write down net realisable value amounting to 
AED 710 thousand (2022: AED Nil) based on an independent valuation of net realisable value of trading 
properties under development. 

Certain items of trading properties are mortgaged against bank borrowings (Note 18). 

13 Bank balances and cash 

Cash in hand 
Bank balances: 
- Current accounts 
- Call accounts 
- Current accounts - unclaimed dividends 
- Term deposits 

2023 
AED '000 

140 

48,543 
3,293 
5,729 

400,000 
457,705 

For the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent consist of. 

2023 
AED '000 

Bank balances and cash 
Less: Current accounts - unclaimed dividends 
Less: Bank overdraft (Note 18) 
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year 
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457,705 
(5,729) 

(349,959) 
102,017 

2022 
AED '000 

288 

50,747 
2,749 

38,995 
400,000 
492,779 

2022 
AED '000 

492,779 
(38,995) 

(454,911) 
(1,127) 
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13 Bank balances and cash (continued) 

Current accounts - unclaimed dividends will be utilised only for the payment of dividend and cannot be used for 
any other purposes. As required by directive issued by SCA dated 30 April 2023, the Group has transferred an 
amount of AED 32,992 thousand as unclaimed dividend pertaining to period approved before March 2015 to 
Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA). 

Bank balances include term deposits amounting to AED 400,000 thousand (2022: AED 400,000 thousand) with 
an maturity period of Jess than three months. The effective average interest rate on deposits ranges between is 
1.85 % to 5.30% per annum (2022: 0.2 % to 1.7S% per annum). Term deposits amounting to AED 400,000 
thousand are under lien against bank borrowings (Note 18). 

14 Share capital 

Authorised, issued and fttlly paid up 2,000,000,000 shares 
of par value of AED 1 each 

15 Statutory reserve 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

2,000,000 2,000,000 

In accordance ,vith UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021 and the Company's Articles of Association, 10% of net 
profit for the year is required to be appropriated to statutory reserve until the reserve equals 50% of paid up share 
capital of the Company. The reserve is not available for distribution except in the circumstances stipulated by the 
law. No transfer was made to statutory reserve during the current year and for the year ended 31 December 2023 
as the balance in the reserve has reached SO% of paid up share capital of the Company (2022: AED Nil). 

16 Other reserves 

At 1 January 2022 
Other comprehensive income for the year 

Transfer on sale of investments carried at 
fair value through other comprehensive 
income 
Transfer from retained earnings 
Utilisation of reserves 
At 31 December 2022 

Other comprehensive loss for the year 
Transfer from retained earnings 
At 31 December 2023 

General Development Fair value 
Reserve 

AED '000 

633,447 

3,079 

636,S26 

20,182 
656,708 
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reserve reserve Other 
AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 

303,675 (232,290) 
(9,822) 

14,518 
713 

(208) 
303,675 (227,594) sos 

(19,838) 
1,121 

303,675 (247,432) 1,626 

Total 
AED'OOO 

704,832 
(9,822) 

14,518 
3,792 

(208) 
713,112 

(19,838) 
21,303 

714,577 
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16 Other reserves (continued) 

Nature and purpose of other reserves 

General reserve 
In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, 10% of the net profit for the year is transferred to the 
general reserve. The transfer to general reserve shall cease by decision of the ordinary general meeting as 
recommended by the Board of Directors or if general reserve reaches 50% of the Company's paid-up share capital. 
General reserve shall be used for the purposes decided by the ordinary general meeting upon the suggestion of 
the Board of Directors. 

Development reserve 
Io accordance with the Company's Articles of Association and pursuant to the approval of the Board of Directors, 
a development reserve has been created which will be utilised for future development and maintenance of facilities 
at various properties owned by the Group. During the year, there is no movement in the development reserve 
(2022: AED Nil). 

Fair value reserve 
Fair value reserve represents the net unrealised gains or losses that are recognised on the financial assets at 
FVOCI. 

17 Employees' end of service benefit 

At 1 January 
Charge for the year 
Payments made during the year 
At 31 December 

18 Bank Borrowings 

Term loan 
Bank overdraft (Note 13) 
Total bank borrowings 
Less: current portion 
Non-current portion 

The movement in the term loan during the year is as follows: 

Balance at 1 January 
Additions during the year 
Repayment during the year 
Balance at 31 December 
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2023 
AED '000 

4,051 
1,842 
(258) 
5,635 

2023 
AED '000 

883,150 
349,959 

1,233,109 
(452,067) 

781,042 

2023 
AED '000 

898,370 
96,247 

(111,467) 
883,150 

2022 
AED '000 

3,038 
1,275 
(262) 
4,051 

2022 
AED '000 

898,370 
454,911 

1,353,281 
(547,251) 

806,030 

2022 
AED '000 

835,257 
423,769 

(360,656) 
898,370 
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18 Bank borrowings (continued) 

Overdraft 
The Group has obtained overdraft facility of AED 540,000 thousand (2022: AED 540,000 thousand) from 
commercial banks. Interest on the overdraft are at margin 0.25% to 0.5% per annum over term deposit rates, 
which are used as security against the overdraft balance. Further, for unsecured bank overdraft, interest is 
computed at a fixed margin+ 3 months (EIBOR) per annum. 

The overdraft facility of the Group is secured by: 

Lien over fixed deposit for AED 400,000 thousand (Note 13); 
To route funds 1.5 times of the net clean limit utilised under the overdraft. (On 31 December 2023, the net 
clean limit utilised was AED 3,847 thousand (31 December 2022: AED 56,596 thousand). 

Term loans 
The Group has obtained the following loans: 

Term loan of AED 358,000 thousand from a commercial bank to finance the construction of the hotel 
project. This facility is repayable in 28 quarterly step up instalments commencing from May 2022 and carries 
an interest rate of 3 months EIBOR + fixed margin per annum. The outstanding balance at 31 December 
2023 amounted to AED 307,413 thousand (2022: AED 335,413 thousand). There is no available 
drawdown limit on 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). 

Term loan facility of AED 324,400 thousand (2022: AED 250,000 thousand) from a commercial bank to 
finance the construction of the hotel project. The facility is repayable in 30 equal quarterly instalments with 
moratorium for a period of 2 years 9 months from the date of first drawdown and carries an interest rate of 
fixed margin over 3 months EIBOR. The outstanding balance at 31 December 2023 amounted to 

AED 287,378 thousand (2022: AED 191,131thousand). Available drawdown limit on 31 December 2023 
amounted to AED 14,492 thousand (2022: AED 36,338 thousand). 

Term loan facility of AED 185,000 thousand from a commercial bank to finance the construction of 
residential villas project. The facility is repayable in 19 equal quarterly instalments commencing 2 years 6 
months from the date of first drawdown and carries an interest rate of fixed margin over 1 months EIBOR. 
The outstanding balance at 31 December 2023 amounted to AED 34,514 thousand (2022: AED 101,057 
thousand). There is no available drawdown limit on 31 December 2023 (2022: AED Nil). 

Term loan facility of AED 275,000 thousand from a commercial bank which was replaced in the prior year 
by one of existing loans with new lease rental discounting loan of USD 74,871 thousand (AED 275,000 
thousand). The loan is repayable over a period of ten years in 39 equal instalments and final instalment (40th) 
of USD 29,948 thousand and carry interest at USD secured overnight financing rate (SOFR) plus a fixed 
margin. The outstanding balance at 31 December 2023 amounted to USD 69,111 thousand (AED 253,845 
thousand) (2022: USD 73,719 thousand (AED 270,769 thousand)). There is no available drawdown limit on 
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group is subject to compliance with certain financial covenants, such as 
maintenance of certain restrictive covenants including maintaining Debt to EBITDA ratio. The Group has 
complied with all covenants mentioned in those agreements in the current year. 

Loans are secured against the following: 

• Legal mortgage of land and buildings of specific properties included in property and equipment, 
investment properties, investment properties under development, trading properties under development 
and trading properties (Notes 6, 7, 8 and 12). 

• Assignment of insurance over the mortgaged properties in favour of the bank. 
• Assignment of guarantees from the main contractor/ construction contracts under the project duly 

assigned in favour of the bank. 
• Assignment of revenues from the hotel projects financed by the banks. 
• Assignment of revenues from sale of apartments and rental revenues from the apartments financed by the 

bank. 
• Pledge of project account opened with the bank for receiving the project receipts from buyers. 
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19 Trade payable, accruals and other liabilities 

Trade payables* 
Project accruals 
Contract liabilities (Note 20) 
Unclaimed dividends 
Advance connection charges 
Other payables and accruals 
At 31 December 
Less: Non-current portion 
Current portion 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

81,882 90,145 
114,442 50,536 
48,550 32,065 
5,729 38,995 

110,697 141,559 
184,849 93,784 
546,149 447,084 

(154,846) {140,90:?2 
391,303 306,177 

*Trade payables includes amounts due to a related party of AED 4,953 thousand (2022: AED 31,315 thousand) 
(Note 26). 

20 Revenue 

Type of revenue from contracts with customers 
Sale of properties 
Rooms revenue 
Food, beverages and other income 
Facility management income 
Forfeiture and other income 
Total revenue from contracts with customers 

Other operating income 
Leasing income (Note 6) 
Total revenue 

Timing of revenue recognition 
Recognised over a period of time 
Recognised at a point in time 
Total revenue from contracts with customers 
Leasing income • recognised over the lease term 
Total revenue 
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2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

830,536 279,588 
66,726 42,755 
49,348 28,634 
26,467 26,158 

2,017 2,227 
975,094 379,362 

29,797 28,857 
1,004,891 408,219 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

667,825 188,304 
307,269 191,058 
975,094 379,362 
29,797 28,857 

1,004,891 408,219 
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20 Revenue (continued) 

Contract balances 

Trade receivables (Note 11) 

Contract assets (Note 11) 

Contract liabilities (Note 19) 

Contract assets 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

533,096 524,550 

326,831 159,521 

48,550 32,065 

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from sale of undeveloped properties as receipt of 
consideration is conditional on acceptance of the customer. Upon acceptance by the customer, the amounts 
recognised as contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables. As such, the balance of this account vary and 
depend on the number of ongoing development projects at the end of the year. 

CotJtract liabilities 
Contract liabilities represent advances received from customers to deliver projects and advances for rental of 
properties. 

Performance obligations 
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as 
at 31 December are as follows: 

2023 2022 
AED'000 AED '000 

Within one year 791,697 174,318 
More than one year 845,318 117,709 

1,637,015 292,027 

21 Cost of revenue 

2023 2022 
AED '000 AED '000 

Cost of sale of properties 569,347 201,639 
Hotel operations expenses* 46,987 31,535 
Facility management expenses** 39,717 31,036 
Leasing expenses (Note 6) 2,098 3,148 
Others 342 356 

658,491 267,714 

*Hotel operation expenses include cost of food and beverages of AED 15,658 thousand (2022: AED 9,846 
thousand) and staff cost of AED 20,926 thousand (2022: AED 14,878 thousand). 

**Facility management expenses include depreciation expense amounting to AED 6,448 thousand 
(2022: AED 6,448 thousand) (Note 5). 
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22 Other income 

Amortisation of government grant (Note 6) 
Late payment charges 
Gain on disposal of investments 
Subcontractor delay penalties 

23 Selling, marketing and administrative expenses 

Payroll and related expenses 
Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 5) 
Advertisement and marketing expenses 
General and administrative expenses 

2023 
AED'000 

18,823 
8,563 

27,386 

2023 
AED'000 

45,037 
29,753 
32,034 
32,556 

139,380 

An amount of AED 598 thousand was paid as social contribution during the year (2022: AED Nil). 

24 Finance costs 

Interest on bank borrowings * 
Bank charges 

2023 
AED '000 

64,685 
1,444 

66,129 

2022 
AED '000 

14,374 
4,630 

927 
6,877 

26,808 

2022 
AED '000 

32,453 
26,458 
17,046 
23,897 
99,854 

2022 
AED '000 

38,816 
2,806 

41,622 

* Interest on borrowing include an amount of AED 10,231 thousand (2022: AED 3,175 thousand) charged for 
the discounting of long term receivables. 

Borrowing costs relating to hotel properties under construction amounted to AED 26,525 thousand (2022: AED 
19,166 thousand) have been capitalised under capital work in progress (note 5) during the current year. 

25 Earnings per share 

The basic and d.iluted earnings per share is as follows: 
2023 2022 

AED '000 AED '000 

Profit for the year (AED '000) 201,817 30,789 

Number of shares (in '000) 2,000,000 2,000,000 

Basic and d.iluted earnings per share (AED) 0.101 0.015 

There was no dilution effect on the basic earnings per share, as the Company does not have any such outstanding 
commitments as at the reporting dates. 
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26 Related party transactions and balances 

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters into transactions, at agreed terms and conditions, with 
other business enterprises or individuals that fall within the definition of related parties contained in International 
Accounting Standard 24. 

The significant transactions entered into by the Group with related parties during the year are as follows: 

Key management personnel of the Group 
Sale of properties 
Sub-contracting and purchase of services 

2023 
AED '000 

1,860 

Balances with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 
2023 

AED '000 

Due to a related party - trade payables (Note 19) 4,953 

2022 
AED '000 

4,740 

2022 
AED '000 

31,315 

Outstanding balances at the year-end arise in the normal course of business, are unsecured, interest-free and 
settlement occurs generally in cash. 

Compensation of key management personnel: 

The remuneration of Directors and other key members of management during the year is as follows: 

Salaries and benefits 
End of service benefits 
Board of Directors' remuneration 

2023 
AED'000 

11,107 
389 

11,496 

2022 
AED '000 

7,253 
417 

6,000 
13,670 

The Directors have proposed a remuneration for the Board of Directors for year ended 31 December 2023 
amounting to AED 8 million. This is subject to approval by the Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting 
and have not been included as a liability in these consolidated financial statements. 

27 Commitments 

Significant commitments relating to the property development are as follows: 

Approved and contracted 

2023 
AED '000 

1,144,523 

2022 
AED '000 

370,659 

The above commitments represent the value of contracts entered into by the Group including contracts entered 
for construction of properties, net of any payables or accruals at year-end. 

The above does not include any commitments to related parties (2022: AED Nil). 

28 Dividends 

The Directors have proposed a cash dividend of AED 0.03 per share (2022: AED Nil) amounting to 
AED 60 million in addition to bonus shares of 4% (2022: Nil) amounting to AED 80 million. This is subject to 
approval by the Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

50 



RAK Properties P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

29 Fair value measurements 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. As such, differences can arise between book values and the 
fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern 
without any intention or requirement to materially curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction 
on adverse terms. 

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost 
Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at 
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. 

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value 
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 3 fair values for financial instruments 
in the consolidated statement of financial position, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used. There has 
been no change in the valuation techniques and methods applied from previous year. 

Type 

Fair value through 
OCI - unquoted 
equities and funds 

Financial assets 
carried at FVTPL 

Valuation techniques and key inputs 

Net assets/ adjusted net asset value valuation 
method due to the unavailability of market 
and comparable financial information. Net 
assets values were determined based on the 
latest available audited/historical financial 
information. Wherever such information is 
available. 
Net assets valuation method due to the 
unavailability of market and comparable 
financial information. Net assets values were 
determined based on the latest available 
audited/historical financial information. 
Market approach is applied wherever such 
information is available. 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs 

Net assets 
value/ 
Market 
approach 

Net assets 
value 

Interrelationship 
of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair 
Type value 

Higher the net 
assets value of 
the investees, 
higher the fair 
value. 

Higher the net 
assets value of 
the investees, 
higher the fair 
value. 

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
The following table provides an analysis of financial and non-financial instruments that are measured subsequent 
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable: 

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices); and 
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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Level 1 
AED '000 

31 December 2023 

Fair value through OCI - unquoted equities 
and funds 
Financial assets carried at FVfPL 
Investment properties 
Investment properties under development 

31 December 2022 
Fair value through OCI - unquoted equities 
and funds 
Financial assets carried at FVTPL 
Investment properties 
Investment properties under development 

Level 2 
AED '000 

Level 3 
AED '000 

20,270 
3,249 

1,532,708 
28,098 

1,584,325 

40,108 
5,447 

1,559,016 
44,299 

1,648,870 

Total 
AED '000 

20,270 
3,249 

1,532,708 
28,098 

1,584,325 

40,108 
5,447 

1,559,016 
44,299 

1,648,870 

During the current and prior year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, 
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis 
of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial 
asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Fair value Fair value 
through through other 

At amortised profit or comprehensive 
cost loss income Total 

AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 
31 December 2023 
Investments 3,249 20,270 23,519 
Trade and other receivables * 922,109 922,109 
Bank balances 457,565 457,565 

1,379,674 3,249 20,270 1,403,193 

31 December 2022 
Investments 5,447 40,108 45,555 
Trade and other receivables * 721,716 721,716 
Bank balances 492,491 492,491 

1,214,207 5,447 40,108 1,259,762 

* Excluding prepayments and VAT receivables. 
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29 Fair value measurements (continued) 
Fair value 

At amortised through 

Financial liabilities 
31 December 2023 
Bank borrowings 
Trade payables, accruals and other liabilities 

31 December 2022 
Bank borrowings 
Trade payables, accruals and other liabilities 

cost profit or loss 
AED '000 AED '000 

1,233,109 
486,286 

1,719,395 

1,353,281 
415,019 

1,768,300 

30 Financial risk management, objective and policies 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

Credit risk; 

liquidity risk; and 

Market risk 

Total 
AED '000 

1,233,109 
486,286 

1,719,395 

1,353,281 
415,019 

1,768,300 

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk 
management framework. The Group's management is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group's risk 
management policies and report regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. The Group's current financial 
risk management framework is a combination of formally documented risk management policies in certain areas 
and informal risk management practices in others. 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations. The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its financial assets, mainly ttade 
receivables, other receivables and bank balances. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the consolidated financial statements, which is net of 
impairment allowance, represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk. An allowance for impairment is 
made where there is an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the 
recoverability of the cash flows. 

The Group monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime ECL rather than 12-montb ECL. 

The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities on the following financial assets: 
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30 Financial risk management, objective and policies (continued) 

Credit Risk (continued) 

Trade receivables and contract assets 
Customer credit risk is managed subject to the Group's established policy, procedures and control relating to 
customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed and individual credit limits are defined 
in accordance with this assessment. Outstanding customer receivables and contract assets are regularly monitored. 
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had receivables from a large number of customers. 

The Group is exposed to credit risk on receivables from sale of properties as the Group allows its customers to 
make payments in instalments over a period of 1 to 10 years. The Group receives advances from its customers at 
the time of the sale and post-dated cheques for the remaining balance at the time of hand over. In addition, the 
Group does not transfer the legal title of the property to the customer until the full amount has been paid. 
Furthermore, the risk of financial loss to the Group on account of customer default is low as the property title acts 
as collateral. 

The Group considers a trade receivable in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in 
certain cases, the Group may also consider a trade receivable to be in default when internal or external information 
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into 
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. 

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit 
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar 
loss patterns (i.e., product type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted 
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting 
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, certain trade 
receivables are proposed for write-off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement 
activity. 

The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as the balances are due 
from a large number of customers. The information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's trade receivables 
and contract assets using the expected credit loss is explained in Note 11. 

Bank balances 
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group's treasury department in 
accordance with the Group's policy. The Group considers the credit risk on bank balances to be minimal given 
that the counterparties are banks with investment grade credit ratings assigned by international credit rating 
agencies and callable on demand. Considering these factors, management has assessed there is minimal credit risk 
on cash and cash equivalents. 

Other receivables 
With respect to credit risk arising from other receivables, the Group's exposure to credit arises from default of the 
counter party with maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these assets. 
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30 Financial risk management, objective and policies (continued} 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group's approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Group's reputation. 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, who have built an 
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group's short, medium and long­
term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate 
reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities. 

31 December 2023 
Trade payables, accruals and other 
liabilities 
Bank borrowings 

31 December 2022 
Trade payables, accruals and other 
liabilities 
Bank borrowings 

Carrying 
amount 

AED '000 

486,286 
1,233,109 
1,719,395 

415,019 
1,353,281 
1,768,300 

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: 

1 January 
AED '000 

2023 
Bank borrowings ( excluding bank 
overdraft) 898,370 
Unclaimed dividend 38,995 

937,365 
2022 
Bank borrowings ( excluding bank 
overdraft) 835,257 
Unclaimed dividend 43,140 

878,397 
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Contractual 
cash flows 
AED'000 

486,286 
1,538,718 
2,025,004 

415,019 
1,628,641 
2,043,660 

Cash 
inflows 

AED '000 

96,247 

96,247 

423,769 

423,769 

Less than 
1 year 

AED '000 

486,286 
522,943 

1,009,229 

415,019 
605,088 

1,020,107 

Cash 
outflows 

AED '000 

(111,467) 
{33,266} 

p44,733l 

(360,656) 
(4,145) 

~364,801~ 

More than 
1 year 

AED '000 

1,015,775 
1,015,775 

1,023,553 
1,023,553 

31 December 
AED '000 

883,150 
5,729 

888,879 

898,370 
38,995 

937,365 
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30 Financial risk management, objective and policies (continued) 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices, 
will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return. 

a. Currency risk 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net 
investments in foreign operations. 

The Group does not have any significant exposure to foreign currency risk since the majority of transactions are 
denominated in AED, US Dollars or other currencies, whereby the US Dollar or other currencies are currently 
pegged to US Dollar. 

(b) Equity Price Risk 
The majority of investment held by the Group is in unquoted equities. The unquoted equity securities are valued 
by experts at each reporting date. Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities increase or decrease as 
a result of changes in the levels of individual stocks. Equity price risk arises from equity instruments held by the 
Group at fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value through profit and loss. Management of 
the Group monitors equity securities in its investment portfolio based on market indices, which are managed by 
qualified team. The primary goal of the Group's investment strategy is to maximise investment returns. 

(c) Interest Rate Risk 
The Group is mainly exposed to interest rate risk on its variable rate instruments i.e. bank borrowings. These are 
subject to normal commercial rates of interest, as determined by market conditions. 

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments is as under: 

Variable rate instruments 
Financial liabilities: 
Bank borrowings 

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

2023 
AED '000 

1,233,109 

2022 
AED '000 

1,353,281 

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points ("bp'') in interest rates at the reporting date would have 
increased/(decreased) the consolidated equity and the consolidated profit or loss and the consolidated statement 
of financial position by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 

31 December 2023 
Variable rate instruments 

31 December 2022 
Variable rate instruments 
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Consolidated profit or loss 
100 bp 100 bp 

increase decrease 
AED '000 

(12,331) 

(13,533) 

AED '000 

12,331 

13,533 
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30 Financial risk management, objective and policies (continued) 

Capital management 
For the purpose of the Group's capital management, capital includes issued share capital, statutory reserve, general 
reserve, fair value reserve, other reserves and retained earnings. 

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. Management monitors the return on capital, as well as the level 
of dividends to ordinary shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the 
year and previous year. 

The Group's management reviews the capital stmcture on a regular basis. As part of this review, the management 
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with capital. The Group manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions, its business model and risk profile. 

31 Segment information 

Management has determined the operating segments based on segments identified for the purpose of allocating 
resources and assessing performance. The Group is organised into four major operating segments: property sales, 
property leasing, hotel operations and others (including facility management income). Information regarding the 
operations of each separate segment is included below: 

31 December 2023 

Revenue 
Cost 
Segment profit 

Total assets 

Total liabilities 

Capital expenditure 

31 December 2022 

Revenue 
Cost 
Segment profit 

Total assets 

Total liabilities 

Capital expenditure 

Property 
sales 

AED '000 

832,170 

(569,347) 
262,823 

2,397,691 

515,627 

281,815 
(201,639) 

80,176 

2,391,184 

544,120 

Property 
leasing 

AED '000 

29,797 
(2,098) 
27,699 

1,560,807 

151,058 

41,236 

28,857 
(3,148) 
25,709 

1,603,315 

154,569 

36,903 
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Hotel 
operations 
AED '000 

116,074 

(46,987) 
69,087 

1,533,179 

624,577 

211,864 

71,389 
(31,535) 

39,854 

1,362,657 

552,046 

234,475 

Others 
AED'000 

26,850 
(40,059) 

(13,209) 

967,233 

863,293 

16,140 

26,158 
(31,392) 
(5,234) 

957,913 

942,165 

3,806 

Total 
AED '000 

1,004,891 

(658,491) 
346,400 

6,458,910 

2,154,555 

269,240 

408,219 
(267,714) 

140,505 

6,315,069 

2,192,900 

275,184 
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32 Reclassifications 

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year 
presentation. However, there is no effect on previously reported total equity, profit for the year and the net change 
in cash and cash equivalent. The reclassifications are as follows: 

Consolidated statement of financial position 

At 31 December 2022 
Trade and other payables (non current portion) (Note 9) 
Trade and other payables (current portion) (Note 9) 

33 Corporate income tax 

As previously 
reported 

AED '000 

19,686 
427,398 

Reclassification 
AED '000 

121,221 
(121,221) 

As currently 
reported 

AED '000 

140,907 
306,177 

On 9 December 2022, the United Arab Emirates (UAE) Ministry of Finance ("MOF") released Federal Decree­
Law No 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses, Corporate Tax Law ("CT Law") to enact a 
new CT regime in the UAE. The new CT regime has become effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 June 2023. As the Group's accounting year ends on 31 December, accordingly the effective implementation 
date for the Group will start from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024, with the first return to be filed on or 
before 30 September 2025. The CT Law confirms the rate of 9% to be applied to taxable income exceeding a 
specified threshold. As per the Group's assessment, there is no material deferred tax impact on account of the CT 
Law in the Group consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

34 Subsequent events 

Subsequent to the yearend, on 2 January 2024, the Group's newly constructed hotel, Anantara Mina Al Arab Ras Al 
Khairnah Resort commenced its commercial operations. 

There have been no events subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position date that would significantly 
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 D ecember 2023. 
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